Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-30-2017

State v. Alwin Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44553

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jeffrey Alwin appeals from his judgment of conviction after a jury found him guilty of one count of felony eluding. Following the jury trial, Mr. Alwin was sentenced to two years, with one year fixed, but the district court suspended the sentence and placed Mr. Alwin on probation for two years. On appeal, Mr. Alwin asserts that the district court erred in admitting prohibited 404(b) propensity evidence, and that the prosecutor committed misconduct when it bolstered the testimony of the State's witness during closing argument, personally guaranteed that the defense's theory was untrue, and invited the jury to decide the case on evidence not admitted at trial when it offered its personal opinion contradicting the testimony of the defense's eyewitness identification expert. Although the prosecutorial misconduct was not objected to, Mr. Alwin asserts that it amounted to fundamental error and therefore can be considered on appeal. The misconduct violated Mr. Alwin's right to a fair trial, right to present a defense, and his right to due process. Mr. Alwin also asserts that the district court erred in denying his motion for a new trial.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

On August 3, 2015, at approximately 1:30 a.m., an officer on patrol saw a black Mercedes-Benz he believed to be exceeding the speed limit and conducted a traffic stop. (Trial Tr., p.128, Ls.21-25; p.130, L.3 – p.133, L.22; p.135, Ls.1-20.) The driver pulled over, and rolled the window at least halfway down. (Trial Tr., p.137, Ls.3-15.) The officer briefly spoke to the driver before the driver drove away before the officer had concluded the stop. (Trial Tr., p.138, L.13 – p.139, L.1; State's Trial Exhibit No. 1.) The officer followed the driver and tried again to pull over the car, but the driver did not pull over, and failed to yield to the other

officers who pursued the car. (Trial Tr., p.182, L.9 – p.184, L.8; p.157, L.21 – p.158, L.14; p.165, L.25 – p.168, L.4; State’s Trial Exhibit Nos. 1, 4, 5, 6.) The police ended the pursuit. (Trial Tr., p.184, Ls.6-8.) The car was registered to Jeffery Alwin. (Trial Tr., p.140, Ls.1-4.) Officer Cohen pulled up a photograph of the registered driver, and believed the person he pulled over was Mr. Alwin. (Trial Tr., p.140, L.1 – p.141, L.3; p.151, L.24 – p.152, L.20.) Based on these facts, the State filed an Information alleging Mr. Alwin committed felony eluding. (R., pp.40-41.)

The case proceeded to trial. (*See* Trial Tr.)

The State called Officer Cohen. (Trial Tr., p.126, Ls.3-5.) He testified that he stopped the driver of the Mercedes-Benz for speeding. (Trial Tr., p.135, Ls.8-15; p.144, Ls.3-7.) He had only a side view of the driver of the car, and that the driver was wearing a baseball cap. (Trial Tr., p.138, Ls.12-20; p.146, Ls.6-17.) He saw the driver for about 20 seconds before the driver then drove away. (Trial Tr., p.139, Ls.7-10.)

At trial, the State sought to have admitted a booking photograph of Mr. Alwin that Officer Cohen had pulled up and used to identify Mr. Alwin as the driver of the car. (Plaintiff’s Ex. 2; Augmentation, p.1¹; Trial Tr., p.140, L.1 – p.141, L.5.) Defense counsel objected to the evidence as 404(b) propensity evidence, but the district court overruled the objection. (Trial Tr., p.141, Ls.4-15.) Officer Cohen made an in-court identification of Mr. Alwin as the driver of the car. (Trial Tr., p.137, L.16 – p.138, L.2.) Officer Cohen also told the jury that he had briefly seen a tribal tattoo on the driver’s left arm, but he only had the occasion to view the tattoo when

¹ The original Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2 is a black and white version of the color photograph viewed by the jury during trial. Mr. Alwin has augmented the record with the more accurate color version of the exhibit and will be referring to the color version of Plaintiff’s Ex. 2 throughout his Appellant’s Brief. (Augmentation, p.1.)

the driver leaned over to access the glove box. (Trial Tr., p.142, Ls.9-21.) Officer Cohen identified the driver by pulling up a picture of the registered owner of the car approximately 15 minutes after the stop. (Trial Tr., p.151, L.24 – p.152, L.20.) He testified, after refreshing his recollection from his report, “from the photograph, I believe it was Mr. Alwin driving the vehicle.” (Trial Tr., p.152, Ls.5-20.)

The State next called Sergeant Brady Reed to the stand. (Trial Tr., p.155, Ls.4-8.) Officer Reed testified that after Officer Cohen put in a call for a traffic stop on the black Mercedes, he saw the car and tried to stop it, but it did not pull over. (Trial Tr., p.157, L.2 – p.158, L.14; p.165, L.25 – p.168, L.3.)

After the State rested, the defense called four witnesses. (Trial Tr., p.186, L.3 – p.273, L.15.)

Mr. Alwin testified that he did own the black Mercedes-Benz, but two days before the incident, he traveled to Bigfork, Montana, with his brother to visit his dad and fish. (Trial Tr., p.187, L.22 - p.189, L.22.) He testified that he did not drive his car to Montana, but got a ride with his brother. (Trial Tr., p.189, Ls.3-12.) When he got back into town, he noticed his car was damaged, but did not learn that his car had been driven or that he was wanted in connection with an eluding charge, until he saw his face on the news. (Trial Tr., p.190, Ls.3-8.) Upon learning that he was wanted in connection with the incident, he turned himself in. (Trial Tr., p.190, Ls.7-12.) Mr. Alwin told the jury that he had let two other individuals drive his car, and that he had a hide-a-key by the spare tire. (Trial Tr., p.190, L.13 – p.191, L.8.) He testified that one of the individuals slightly matched the description of the person driving the car. (Trial Tr., p.192, Ls.10-13.)

Mr. Alwin's landlady, Carol Gales, testified that she saw Mr. Alwin leave with his brother a couple days before the incident. (Trial Tr., p.197, L.22 – p.198, L.21.) She testified that his car was parked in the driveway while he was gone that week, and she did not see anyone driving the car while he was gone. (Trial Tr., p.198, L.12 – p.199, L.12.)

Mr. Alwin's brother, Jacob Weilacher, testified that he was with Mr. Alwin in Montana when the driver of Mr. Alwin's car failed to pull over for the officers. (Trial Tr., p.204, L.5 – p.205, L.14.)

The defense's final witness was Dr. Daniel Reisberg, a Ph.D criminal psychologist who specializes in memory and has written and spoken extensively on eyewitness identification. (Trial Tr., p.214, L.16 – p.217, L.22; p.221, L.3 – p.222, L.8.) Dr. Reisberg testified as an expert witness who had prepared a report based on Mr. Alwin's case. (Trial Tr., p.223, Ls.3-5.) Dr. Reisberg testified that, in the case of Officer Cohen's identification of Mr. Alwin, there were a variety of factors which, together, tended to make Officer Cohen's identification less reliable. (Trial Tr., p.229, L.20 – p.232, L.2; p.241, L.3 – p.257, L.14.)

Ultimately, the jury convicted Mr. Alwin of felony eluding. (Trial Tr., p.307, L.19 – p.308, L.5; R., p.174.)

Mr. Alwin filed a motion for a new trial pursuant to I.C.R. 34 and I.C. § 19-2406, asserting that the district court erred in admitting the booking photograph. (8/5/16 Tr., p.7, L.1 – p.9, L.11; R., pp.176-180.) The district court denied the motion after a hearing. (R., pp.188-189.)

The district court sentenced Mr. Alwin to a sentence of two years, with one year fixed, but suspended the sentence and placed Mr. Alwin on probation for two years. (9/7/16 Tr., p.20,

Ls.21-25; R., pp.195-210.) Mr. Alwin filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Judgment of Conviction. (R., pp.211-215.)

ISSUES

1. Did the district court err in admitting un-noticed evidence of prior bad acts?
2. Did the State commit prosecutorial misconduct in its closing argument?
3. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Alwin's motion for a new trial?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred In Admitting Evidence Of Mr. Alwin's Prior Bad Acts

A. Introduction

At trial, the jury saw a booking photograph of Mr. Alwin that Officer Cohen pulled up on his computer system 15 minutes after he initially made contact with the driver of the car. Mr. Alwin asserts that district court erroneously admitted the photograph without analyzing the prejudicial nature of the photo, and it failed to address the State's I.R.E. 404(b) notice violation.

Although the district court overruled the objection, agreeing with the State that the booking photograph was not alleging any "conduct" thus it would not fall under the purview of I.R.E. 404(b) (Trial Tr., p.141, Ls.4-13), the booking photograph was clearly evidence demonstrating Mr. Alwin's propensity to commit crimes, or at least be arrested for committing crime(s). The district court further erred when it admitted the State's evidence in absence of any showing of good cause that would excuse the State's failure to timely provide and serve notice of its intent to introduce prior bad acts evidence at trial, and by failing to consider the prejudicial effect of such information versus any probative value pursuant to I.R.E. 403.

B. Standard Of Review

This Court generally reviews the district court's decision whether to admit prior bad acts evidence under I.R.E. 404(b) for an abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., State v. Grist*, 147 Idaho 49, 51 (2009). Under I.R.E. 404(b), this Court reviews both whether the evidence admitted was relevant to a material and disputed issue regarding the crime charged, other than propensity, and whether the probative value of the evidence is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to

the defendant. *State v. Field*, 144 Idaho 559, 569 (2007). The district court's determination as to whether to admit or to exclude evidence based upon the potential for prejudice of that evidence under I.R.E. 403 is likewise reviewed by this Court for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Johnson*, 148 Idaho 664, 667 (2010). Three pertinent considerations are attendant upon review for an abuse of discretion: (1) whether the district court correctly perceived the issue as an issue of discretion; (2) whether the district court acted in accordance with applicable legal standards and within the proper bounds of its discretion; and (3) whether the district court reached its decision through an exercise of reason. *Id.*

However, the relevance of evidence is a question of law and therefore this Court reviews the district court's determination that evidence is relevant *de novo*. *State v. Raudebaugh*, 124 Idaho 758, 764 (1993).

C. The District Court Erred When It Admitted Evidence Of A Prior Bad Act Against Mr. Alwin Because The State Failed To Provide Timely Notice Of Its Intent To Introduce This Evidence, And Because The Evidence Was More Prejudicial Than Probative

Mr. Alwin asserts that the district court failed to act in accordance with applicable legal standards when it admitted the booking photograph, as this evidence should have been excluded pursuant to I.R.E. 404(b).

“Under I.R.E. 404(b), evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to show a defendant's criminal propensity.” *Johnson*, 148 Idaho at 667. Such evidence may, however, be admissible for a non-propensity or character purpose so long as the prosecution provides timely notice of its intent to use such evidence. *Id.*

To determine the admissibility of evidence of prior bad acts, the Idaho Supreme Court had adopted a two-tiered test. The first tier involves a two-part inquiry as to whether: (1) there is sufficient evidence to establish the prior bad act as fact; and (2) the prior bad act is relevant to

a material disputed issue concerning the crime charged, excepting propensity. *Grist*, 147 Idaho at 52; *State v. Johnson*, 148 Idaho 664, 667 (2010).

The second tier of the I.R.E. 404(b) analysis is a determination under I.R.E. 403 regarding whether the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice. *Johnson*, 148 Idaho at 667; *Grist*, 147 Idaho at 52.

In reviewing a trial court's decision regarding the admissibility of "bad act" evidence under Rule 404(b), Idaho's appellate courts apply differing standards of review to the different steps of the analysis. The questions of whether there is sufficient evidence to establish the "bad act" as fact, and whether the "bad act" evidence is relevant to an issue other than character or propensity, are questions of law which are reviewed *de novo*. See *State v. Joy*, 155 Idaho 1, 8 (2013); see also *Grist*, 147 Idaho at 52 (making it clear that the question of whether there was sufficient evidence of the "bad act" is judged under an objective standard and is actually part of the relevance analysis). On the other hand, the question of whether the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Joy*, 155 Idaho at 8.

1. The Booking Photo Is I.R.E. 404(b) Evidence

Of course, I.R.E. 404(b) is not limited to bad acts. *State v. Norton*, 151 Idaho 176, 190 (Ct. App. 2011). The Rule encompasses "other crimes, wrongs, or acts." I.R.E. 404(b). Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts may be admissible for "other purposes" as listed in Rule 404(b), such as knowledge or plan. I.R.E. 404(b); *State v. Sams*, 160 Idaho 917 (Ct. App. 2016); see also *State v. Blackstead*, 126 Idaho 14, 18 Ct. App. 1994) (noting that the enumerated "other purposes" for admission of Rule 404(b) evidence is not "exhaustive"). Trial courts typically exclude mug shots from evidence. *United States v. George*, 160 Fed. Appx. 450, 456

(6th Cir. 2005). A mug shot is usually not admissible under 404(b), and, even if it is relevant, it tends to make the jury believe that the person is “bad,” and thus can be unfairly prejudicial. *Id.* “Mug shot evidence is prejudicial because it informs the jury that a defendant has a criminal record.” *Murray v. Superintendent, Kentucky State Penitentiary*, 651 F.2d 451, 454 (6th Cir. 1981). Further, “the visual impact of a mug shot, apart from mere references to a prior conviction, can leave a lasting, although illegitimate, impact on the jury.” *George*, 160 Fed. Appx. At 456 (citing *United States v. McCoy*, 848 F.2d 743, 745-46 (6th Cir.1988) (holding that lineup photographs were unfairly prejudicial as they suggest that the defendant “is a ‘bad guy’ who belongs in jail,” thus, “a typical juror could thereby be influenced irrationally to conclude that he is guilty of the offense charged.”).)

During Mr. Alwin’s trial, as part of the State’s case-in-chief, the prosecutor introduced into evidence a booking photograph of Mr. Alwin. (Trial Tr., p.140, Ls.15-24.) Officer Cohen testified that he had pulled up the photograph of the registered driver of the Mercedes using the computer system in his car, and that he believed the driver of the car was Mr. Alwin. (Trial Tr., p.139, L.4 – p.141, L.5.) Mr. Alwin timely objected when the prosecutor asked to publish Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2 after Officer Cohen identified the photo:

Q. And is that a true and accurate copy of the photo you looked at that night?

A. It is.

PROSECUTOR: At this point in time, the State would move to admit Plaintiff’s 2.

THE COURT: Any objection?

DEFENSE: We would object under 404(b), Your Honor.

THE COURT: Any response?

PROSECUTOR: No, I don't think it is 404(b), Your Honor. There is no conduct being alleged.

THE COURT: I agree. I'm going to admit the exhibit.

(Trial Tr., p.141, Ls.1-13.) The following photograph was admitted:



(Plaintiff's Ex. 2.)

However, the booking photograph of Mr. Alwin demonstrated that Mr. Alwin had been incarcerated or at least arrested in the past. (Plaintiff's Ex. 2.) In overruling Mr. Alwin's objection, the district court never addressed the fact that the State failed to give notice pursuant to I.R.E. 404(b) that it intended to seek admission of the booking photo. (Trial Tr., p.141, Ls.4-18.) Further, the district court did not conduct any I.R.E. 403 analysis of whether the evidence was more prejudicial than probative.

In this case, the evidence proffered by the State of prior incarceration lacked both timely notice of its intended use by the State and was more prejudicial than probative.

2. The State Failed To Provide Timely Notice Of Its Intent To Use I.R.E. 404(b) Propensity Evidence

Under I.R.E. 404(b), the State may be able to introduce other-acts evidence against a defendant if, *inter alia*, the State files and serves notice of its intent to introduce such evidence

reasonably in advance of trial, or during trial if the district court excuses the lack of such notice upon a showing of good cause for the failure to provide such notice. I.R.E. 404(b).

The Idaho Supreme Court in *State v. Sheldon* has addressed the practical consequences for the State's failure to provide timely notice of its intent to introduce prior bad acts evidence at trial. *See State v. Sheldon*, 145 Idaho 225 (2008). In *Sheldon*, the State elicited evidence at trial regarding allegations that the defendant had made statements admitting that he had previously engaged in drug sales. *Id.* at 227. In reviewing whether the admission of the prior bad acts evidence was error in light of the State's failure to file timely notice of this evidence, the *Sheldon* Court held that compliance with the notice requirement of I.R.E. 404(b) is mandatory. *Id.* at 230-231. The *Sheldon* Court further concluded that, because the State failed to comply with the notice provisions contained in I.R.E. 404(b), the State's prior bad acts evidence was inadmissible. *Id.* As the introduction of this evidence was highly prejudicial to the defendant, and because such evidence also likely caught defense counsel off-guard when the district court permitted its introduction, the *Sheldon* Court vacated the defendant's conviction for trafficking in methamphetamine. *Id.*

This Court should do the same. The State in this case failed to provide notice of its intent to admit evidence of uncharged acts "reasonably in advance of trial." In fact, the State did not provide *any* notice of its intent to admit this evidence prior to trial.²

² While the prosecutor did mention the booking photo during a break after the jury had been empaneled, the parties argued about the admission of other photos—photographs of Mr. Alwin's tattoo taken while he was being booked on the instant offense. (Trial Tr., p.110, L.14 – p.119, L.13.) The prosecutor focused on the photograph(s) of Mr. Alwin's tattoo and did not make arguments regarding the booking photo viewed by Officer Cohen; nor did the district court make any rulings regarding the future Plaintiff's Exhibit 2. (*Id.*)

As such, the district court did not find good cause that would excuse the untimeliness. The lack of notice deprived Mr. Alwin of any ability to defend against these allegations. In light of this, the district court erred when it admitted evidence that he had been arrested in the past.

3. There Was Ample Evidence To Establish The “Bad Act” As Fact

Contrary to the district court’s post-hoc rationalizations when ruling on the motion for a new trial, the booking photo is readily identifiable as a booking photo. (*See* Plaintiff’s Ex. 2.) It is a close-up headshot of Mr. Hall wearing a yellow scrub shirt, in front of a plain backdrop, staring unsmilingly into the camera; it is clearly a booking photo. (*See* Plaintiff’s Ex.2.) It is clear that Mr. Alwin is wearing jail clothing, and he appears to have a black eye. (Plaintiff’s Ex. 2.) The officer testified that he was able to pull the photo up from the computer in his car. (Trial Tr., p.140, Ls.2-21.) Further, the prosecutor told the jury in its opening statement that officer “matched it to a picture that was on file.” (Trial Tr., p.122, Ls.3-6.)

However, after defense counsel objected to the admission of the booking photo, the district court agreed with the prosecutor’s comment that the photo was “not conduct” and allowed the prosecutor to show the booking photograph to the jury and admit it into evidence. (Trial Tr., p.141, Ls.4-18.) Defense counsel was clearly caught off-guard when the district court admitted the exhibit. (*See* 8/5/16 Tr., p.7, Ls.4-24; p.12, Ls.13-23.)

During the hearing on Mr. Alwin’s motion for a new trial, the district court explained why it admitted the exhibit:

Now, in the process, this photo was never actually shown to me, and, I mean, I could see it from a distance, and it’s hard to see what a witness is dealing with in this particular courtroom, because they are right next to me, but I was never actually handed the photo.

...

When I saw this photo from a distance, I thought it was a driver’s license photo. I didn’t know that it was a booking photo. When you said 404(b), that should have

clicked. It didn't completely. I'm going, what 404(b)? What conduct is being alleged here? I don't recognize this yellow shirt as jail garb.

...

I think people were very careful about this, and I don't recall any discussion about any prior arrest of Mr. Alwin.

(8/5/16 Tr., p.15, L.4 – p.16, L.7.)

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