Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-22-2017

State v. Alwin Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44553

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Alwin Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred By Overruling His I.R.E. 404(b) Objection

A. Introduction

Alwin contends that the district court erred by overruling his I.R.E. 404(b) objection to the admission, into evidence at the jury trial, of a photograph utilized by Officer Cohen to identify him after Alwin fled a traffic stop. (Appellant’s brief, pp.7-17.) Alwin has failed to show that the district court erred. At the trial, the booking photo was not presented to the jury as a “booking photo,” and thus did not constitute evidence of “prior acts” implicating I.R.E. 404(b). In any event, even if the district court erred by not recognizing the nature of the photo, any such error was harmless.

B. Standard Of Review

Rulings under I.R.E. 404(b) are reviewed under a bifurcated standard: Whether the evidence is admissible for a purpose other than propensity is given free review while the determination of whether the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by its potential for unfair prejudice is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Grist, 147 Idaho 49, 51, 205 P.3d 1185, 1187 (2009).

C. The District Court Properly Overruled Alwin’s I.R.E. 404(b) Objection

“Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove a defendant’s criminal propensity. However, such evidence may be admissible for a purpose other than that prohibited by I.R.E. 404(b).” State v. Truman, 150 Idaho 714, 249 P.3d 1169 (Ct. App. 2011) (citations omitted). Under I.R.E. 404(b), evidence of prior

wrongs or acts may be admitted to prove motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. I.R.E. 404(b); State v. Phillips, 123 Idaho 178, 845 P.2d 1211 (1993). In Grist, *supra*, the Idaho Supreme Court set forth a two-tiered analysis to determine the admissibility of evidence under I.R.E. 404(b). State v. Naranjo, 152 Idaho 134, 138, 267 P.3d 721, 725 (Ct. App. 2011). “The first tier involves a two-part inquiry: (1) whether there is sufficient evidence to establish the prior bad acts as fact; and (2) whether the prior bad acts are relevant to a material disputed issue concerning the crime charged, other than propensity.” Id. (citing Grist, 147 Idaho at 52, 205 P.3d at 1188).

The second step in a 404(b) analysis involves a determination of whether the evidence, although relevant, should be excluded because the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs its probative value. State v. Sheahan, 139 Idaho 267, 275-276, 77 P.3d 956, 964-965 (2003). Pursuant to I.R.E. 403, relevant evidence may be excluded if, in the district court’s discretion, the danger of unfair prejudice – which is the tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis – substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence. State v. Ruiz, 150 Idaho 469, 471, 248 P.3d 720, 722 (2010); State v. Floyd, 125 Idaho 651, 654, 873 P.2d 905, 908 (Ct. App. 1994); State v. Nichols, 124 Idaho 651, 656, 862 P.2d 343, 348 (Ct. App. 1993). As previously explained by the Idaho Supreme Court: “Under the rule, the evidence is only excluded if the probative value is *substantially* outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The rule suggests a strong preference for admissibility of relevant evidence.” State v. Martin, 118 Idaho 334, 340 n.3, 796 P.2d 1007, 1013 n.3 (1990) (emphasis in original).

A party intending to utilize I.R.E. 404(b) “other acts” evidence for a permissible I.R.E. 404(b) purpose at trial must “file and serve notice reasonably in advance of trial, or during trial if the court excuses pretrial notice on good cause shown, of the general nature of any such evidence it intends to introduce at trial.” I.R.E. 404(b). Lack of required notice renders I.R.E. 404(b) evidence inadmissible. State v. Sheldon, 145 Idaho 225, 230, 178 P.3d 28, 33 (2007).

Approximately 15 minutes after Alwin fled the traffic stop, Officer Cohen pulled up a photo of Alwin on his in-vehicle computer. (Trial Tr., Vol. I, p.140, Ls.8-23.) During Officer Cohen’s trial testimony, the state moved for the admission of this photo into evidence. (Trial. Tr., Vol. I, p.140, L.25 – p.141, L.5.) Alwin objected to the admission of the photo on the ground that it violated I.R.E. 404(b). (Trial Tr., Vol. I, p.141, Ls.7-8.) Alwin did not provide any other context for his objection or request that the matter be taken up outside the presence of the jury. (See id.) The court overruled the objection, after stating its agreement with the state’s contention that I.R.E. 404(b) was not applicable because there was “no conduct being alleged.” (Trial Tr., Vol. I, p.141, Ls.10-15.)

After the jury found him guilty, Alwin filed a motion for a new trial on the ground that the district court erred by overruling his I.R.E. 404(b) motion. (R., pp.176-180.) In this motion, Alwin identified the photo that was admitted at trial as a booking photo associated with a prior arrest. (Id.) At a subsequent hearing on the motion, the district court explained that at the trial, it did not realize that the photo submitted into evidence was a booking photo. (8/5/16 Tr., p.15, Ls.17-19.) Instead, at the time of the trial, the court assumed that the photo was a driver’s license photo or passport photo, and that the

“jail garb” worn by Alwin in the photo was actually “scrubs.” (8/5/16 Tr., p.15, L.17 – p.16, L.7.) The court further noted that the photo did not contain identifying numbers or a corresponding side portrait view that clearly identified it as a booking photo. (8/5/16 Tr., p.16, L.22 – p.17, L.4.) As a result, the court concluded that it would not be “readily apparent” to lay jurors that the photo was a booking photo associated with a prior arrest. (8/5/16 Tr., p.17, Ls.5-8; p.18, Ls.12-18.) The court also concluded, presumably in the alternative, that the booking photo was admitted for a permissible I.R.E. 404(b) purpose — identity. (8/5/16 Tr., p.17, L.21 – p.18, L.7.)

Alwin has failed to demonstrate that the district court erred in overruling his I.R.E. 404(b) objection to the photo. As the court correctly recognized, the photo was not specifically identified as a “booking photo” to the jury during the trial. The photo lacked many of the identifiable characteristics associated with booking photos, such as a separate side portrait view, law enforcement agency markings, a booking number, etc. (See State’s Exhibit 2.) Further, neither party, nor the court, referenced any prior arrest or police activity involving Alwin in the course of the trial. (See Trial Tr., Vols. I-II.)

Because the admitted photo was not presented to the court or to the jury as a booking photo, and because the photo was not readily identifiable as such, it did not implicate any prior acts or require an I.R.E. 404(b) analysis. Therefore, the state was not required to provide I.R.E. 404(b) notice, and the district court did not err in overruling Alwin’s I.R.E. 404(b) objection.

D. Even If The District Court Erred, Any Such Error Was Harmless

Idaho Criminal Rule 52 provides that “[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance that does not affect substantial rights must be disregarded.” I.C.R. 52. The proper

inquiry is whether “the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error.” State v. Joy, 155 Idaho 1, 12, 304 P.3d 276, 286 (2013) (quoting Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993) (emphasis omitted)). In Sheldon, after concluding that the district court erred by failing to recognize that certain admitted evidence was “prior act” evidence subject to I.R.E. 404(b), the Idaho Supreme Court, in conducting its harmless error analysis, considered the probative value and degree of unfair prejudice of the evidence, as well as the prejudice to Sheldon caused by the lack of notice. Sheldon, 145 Idaho at 230-231, 178 P.3d at 33-34.

In the present case, the state first submits that *if* the photo, as presented at trial, constituted “prior acts” evidence subject to I.R.E. 404(b), the evidence was offered for the permissible I.R.E. 404(b) purpose of identity. The identity of the driver who fled the traffic stop with Officer Cohen was the primary disputed issue at trial. The photo admitted by the state was the very photo utilized by Officer Cohen to identify Alwin after he fled the traffic stop. Alwin’s own defense expert acknowledged, in his trial testimony, that Officer Cohen’s ability to view a photo of Alwin shortly after the traffic stop “favor[ed] reliability” of the officer’s identification of Alwin. (Trial Tr., Vol. II, p.255, Ls.14-21.) The photo therefore contained probative evidentiary value.²

² It is somewhat unclear how the probative value of un-noticed I.R.E. 404(b) evidence should be weighed in a harmless error analysis where, as the state asserts is the case here, the evidence was relevant for a permissible I.R.E. 404(b) purpose. In Sheldon, in such a circumstance, the Idaho Supreme Court rejected the Idaho Court of Appeals’ focus on “whether there was prejudice from the absence of notice rather than prejudice from the content of the evidence.” Sheldon, 145 Idaho at 230, 178 P.3d at 33. However, prior to concluding that the error in that case was not harmless, the Idaho Supreme Court noted that the probative value of the evidence in question was “low.” Id. Therefore, it appears that when the probative value of I.R.E. 404(b) evidence substantially outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice from the evidence, this supports a conclusion that a district court’s I.R.E. 404(b) error was harmless.

The potential for unfair prejudice resulting from the admission of the photo was relatively low. As discussed above, the booking photo lacked many of the identifiable characteristics associated with booking photos, was never specifically identified as a “booking photo” in the course of the trial, and no prior arrest or police activity involving Alwin was referenced by either party. Notably, while Alwin objected to the admission into evidence of the photo itself, he did not object to Officer Cohen’s testimony that he observed the photo on his in-vehicle computer shortly after the traffic stop. (See Trial Tr., Vol. I, p.140, Ls.8-24.) Any limited potential for unfair prejudice arising from the photo itself was at least somewhat cumulative with the limited potential for unfair prejudice arising from Officer Cohen’s unchallenged testimony that he was able to access a photo of Alwin in his vehicle.

Finally, on appeal, Alwin has not attributed any specific prejudice to his lack of notice of the state’s introduction of the photo into evidence, except to state that this lack of notice “effectively defeat[ed] his ability to investigate and prepare a defense against the implication that he had engaged in criminal conduct in the past.” (Appellant’s brief, p.17.) Unlike the appellant in Sheldon, Alwin has not “listed a number of things that the defense would have done differently, had it been known that the [photo was] to be offered in evidence.” See Sheldon, 145 Idaho at 230-231, 178 P.3d at 33-34.

Even assuming that photo admitted into evidence at the trial constituted evidence of “prior acts” subject to I.R.E. 404(b) analysis, and even assuming that the district court erred by not recognizing the nature of this evidence, any such error was harmless because the jury’s guilty verdict actually rendered “was surely unattributable to the error.”

II.

Alwin Has Failed To Show That The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct During Closing Argument, Let Alone That Any Such Misconduct Rises To The Level Of Fundamental Error That Necessitates A Vacating Of The Conviction

A. Introduction

For the first time on appeal, Alwin contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct in three instances during his closing and rebuttal argument. (Appellant's brief, pp.17-28.) Alwin's contention fails because he has failed to demonstrate misconduct, let alone misconduct that satisfies the fundamental error standard set forth in State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 230, 245 P.3d 961, 982 (2010).

B. Standard Of Review

"[T]he standard of review governing claims of prosecutorial misconduct depends on whether the defendant objected to the misconduct at trial." State v. Severson, 147 Idaho at 694, 715, 215 P.3d 414, 435 (2008). If a defendant fails to timely object at trial to allegedly improper closing arguments by the prosecutor, the conviction will be set aside for prosecutorial misconduct only upon a showing by the defendant that the alleged misconduct rises to the level of fundamental error. Perry, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

C. The Challenged Portions Of The Prosecutor's Closing Argument Did Not Constitute Misconduct, Let Alone Fundamental Constitutional Error

Prosecutorial misconduct occurs where the prosecutor "so infect[s] the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." State v. Sanchez, 142 Idaho 309, 318, 127 P.3d 212, 221 (Ct. App. 2005).

With respect to prosecutorial misconduct in the context of closing argument, the United States Supreme Court has stated:

Isolated passages of a prosecutor's argument, billed in advance to the jury as a matter of opinion not of evidence, do not reach the same proportions [as consistent and repeated misrepresentation that may have a significant impact on a jury's deliberations]. Such arguments, like all closing arguments of counsel, are seldom carefully constructed in toto before the event; improvisation frequently results in syntax left imperfect and meaning less than crystal clear. While these general observations in no way justify prosecutorial misconduct, they do suggest that a court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations.

Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 646-647 (1974).

The Idaho Supreme Court has reiterated the importance of reviewing closing arguments in light of their improvisational nature, noting that "in reviewing allegations of prosecutorial misconduct [the appellate court] must keep in mind the realities of trial." State v. Field, 144 Idaho 559, 571, 165 P.3d 273, 285 (2007) (quoting State v. Estes, 111 Idaho 423, 427-428, 725 P.2d 128, 132-133 (1986)). The Idaho Court of Appeals has further recognized "[t]he right to due process does not guarantee a defendant an error-free trial but a fair one," and the function of appellate review is "not to discipline the prosecutor for misconduct, but to ensure that any such misconduct did not interfere with the defendant's right to a fair trial." State v. Reynolds, 120 Idaho 445, 451, 816 P.2d 1002, 1008 (Ct. App. 1991).

"Idaho has limited appellate review of unobjected-to error to cases wherein the defendant has alleged the violation of a constitutionally protected right." Perry, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. To obtain appellate review and reversal on an issue not preserved through timely objection at trial an appellant must demonstrate:

(1) violation of an unwaived constitutional right; (2) that the error is clear and obvious without the need to further develop the evidence regarding the error or whether the lack of objection was a tactical decision; and (3) that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings. Id.

On appeal in this case, Alwin has identified three portions of the prosecutor's closing and rebuttal argument, which, Alwin asserts, satisfies the Perry fundamental error standard. However, a review of the entire context of the challenged statements reveals that Alwin has failed to demonstrate misconduct, let alone fundamental constitutional error.

1. The Prosecutor's Statement Regarding Officer Cohen's Credibility

In the first challenged portion of the state's closing argument, Alwin contends that the prosecutor vouched for Officer Cohen's credibility and "asked the jury to make a decision after telling them that the prosecution's witness was a credible witness." (Appellant's brief, p.21.)

The prosecutor stated:

There's one person in here who has the motive to not tell the truth, and he's sitting right there. Not Officer Cohen, a police officer. He is not going to sit up here under oath and not tell the truth. He is credible. His testimony is credible, *and it was consistent and he documented everything that night that turned out to be true later on once he was arrested.*

(Trial Tr., Vol. II, p.288, Ls.19-25 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor's statement regarding Officer Cohen's credibility does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct, let alone fundamental constitutional error, because the prosecutor tied the statement to evidence presented at trial. Specifically, the prosecutor argued that Officer Cohen's testimony was internally consistent, and that his

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